
KALAMAZOO TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

Minutes of July 23, 2004 
 

 
Members Present:    Chairperson Atwell, Tim Meek, and Donna Treloar 
 
Members Absent:    Elizabeth Forest 
 
City Commission Liaison:   Hannah McKinney (absent) 
 
Technical Committee Member Present: William Schomisch, Transportation Director 
 
City Administration Member Present: Heather L. Stiver, Administrative Support Specialist 

Anthony E. Givhan, Senior Operations Supervisor 
Richard G. Congdon, ADA Coordinator 

 
Guests:     David “Andy” Havice 

Reuben Richardson 
       
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairperson Atwell called the regular meeting of the Transit Authority Board of Directors to order  
at 8:16 a.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Chairperson Atwell excused the absence of Ms. Forest. 
 
INTRODUCTIONS 
Chairperson Atwell informed the Board that both Mr. Havice and Mr. Richardson were invited to 
attend the meeting because they had recently been interviewed by the Nominating Committee and 
the full Board was being requested to approve the nominations.  He thanked Mr. Havice and Mr. 
Richardson for coming to the meeting. 
 
ADDITIONS/CHANGES TO AGENDA 
Chairperson Atwell indicated that action by the Board on Action Item F would be deferred to 
another meeting, and that it would still be held for discussion. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There were none. 
 
CITY COMMISSION/CITY MANAGER ITEMS 
There were none. 
 
 



 
 -2-

ACTION ITEMS 
Meeting Minutes of June 25, 2004 
The minutes of the Transit Authority Board of Directors Regular Meeting held on June 25, 2004, 
was presented to the Board for their consideration. 
 
Chairperson Atwell indicated that the name of the MOP representative was Mike Evans and not 
Steve Evans. 
 

Secretary/Treasurer Treloar made a motion to approve the meeting minutes with 
the noted corrections of the regular Board meeting held on June 25, 2004, and was 
supported by Vice Chairperson Meek.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Income and Expense Statement for June 2004 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported that operating expenses came in at $765,452, which was 
an increase of $5,037 or plus 0.6% when compared to June 2003.  He stated that the expenses 
continued to be in line with budget projections. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported that operating revenues came in at $98,887, which was 
an increase of $5,127 or plus 5.47% when compared to June 2003.  He stated that the revenue 
generated from the Medieval Festival contributed to the increase. 
 
Chairperson Atwell stated that the event was called the WMU Medieval Congress and that it was not 
a festival. 
 
Chairperson Atwell again reminded the Board that he had requested staff to provide the Fund 
Balance amount monthly to keep the information in front for the Board and the public because it was 
not a good business practice to draw down from the account. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the budget expended year-to-date was right in line at 
51.22%.  He informed the Board that diesel fuel cost continued to increase and that the System 
recently paid $1.13/gallon, which was the highest amount paid to date. 
 

Vice Chairperson Meek made a motion to accept the Income and Expense 
Statement for June 2004, and was supported by Secretary/Treasurer Treloar.  
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Ridership Analysis Report for June 2004 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported there were 169,414 rides in June 2004, which was an 
increase of 3.88% or plus 6,332 passengers when compared to the same month in 2003. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported the year-to-date ridership was at 1,565,617 passengers, 
which was an increase of 10.29% or plus 146,097 passengers when compared to 2003. 
 
 



 
 -3-

Transportation Director Schomisch reported productivity for June 2004 had decreased slightly, but 
the year-to-date productivity was at 23.72 passengers carried per service hour. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported ridership in June 2004 for Metro Van continued to 
increase with 2,267 passengers, which was an increase of 159 passengers over the same month in 
2003.  He reported that the productivity continued to remain under one passenger per service hour. 
 
Vice Chairperson Meek suggested having the Metro Van service contracted out to Care-A-Van for 
some cost savings.  Transportation Director Schomisch responded the type of service that Care-A-
Van offered was not the same as the Metro Van Program. 
 
Chairperson Atwell stated he would still like to see the productivity beyond one passenger per trip 
for the Metro Van service. 
 

Vice Chairperson Meek made a motion to accept the Ridership Analysis Report of 
June 2004, and was supported by Ms. Treloar.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Service Recognition for Edna Carlson 
Chairperson Atwell read the Service Recognition Resolution honoring Ms. Edna Carlson for her 
contributions to the Board, Kalamazoo Metro Transit, and the City of Kalamazoo. 

 
Chairperson Atwell made a motion to accept the Service Recognition Resolution 
honoring Ms. Carlson, and was supported by Vice Chairperson Meek.  Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
Revised KMT Advertising Policy 
Transportation Director Schomisch reminded the Board that the Advertising Program was a revenue 
source for the System and that due to the economy there was less interest generated in the program.  
He also stated that the policy needed to be updated to accurately reflect the changes that had 
occurred relating to freedom of speech. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the revenue was split 50/50 with a vendor that 
oversaw the program.  He stated that in the past $35,000 was generated annually, and that it could be 
as much as $70,000. 
 
Chairperson Atwell asked if the vendor worked like a broker.  Transportation Director  Schomisch 
responded yes. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch explained that during the last year of the program, before the 
Board ceased the program and until the program was updated, the contractor was unable to pay the 
guaranteed price and still owed the City money, but was making monthly payments.  He reported 
that a firm from New York had contacted Kalamazoo Metro Transit. 
 
 



 
 -4-

Transportation Director Schomisch informed the Board that the biggest change to the Advertising 
Policy was in the first paragraph, which he highlighted – declaring the City as a non-public forum, 
which regulated what type of advertisement could be placed on the City’s buses and bus facilities.  
He explained that the policy mirrored the policy in Boston and that he was comfortable with the 
language. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar stated she saw a Planned Parenthood ad and it alarmed her.  Chairperson 
Atwell responded that an issue was raised by a former Board member and the ad was removed. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the “non-public” forum was safer and allowed the 
System to say no to some advertisements it deemed inappropriate. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar asked what a “non-public” forum was.  Transportation Director 
Schomisch responded that it was just the opposite of allowing anybody to do anything and that a 
“non-public” forum, even though a public entity, for the purpose of advertising is to not express an 
opinion, but generate revenue as a business practice and have a right to say no.  Chairperson Atwell 
responded it was a legal distinction. 
 
Vice Chairperson Meek asked when the new policy would be implemented.  Transportation Director 
Schomisch responded in 2005. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar asked if any local firms expressed an interest.  Transportation Director 
Schomisch responded there were local firms that responded. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar asked if the advertisements would be on the outside of the buses.  
Transportation Director Schomisch responded yes, and that they would also be on the inside of the 
buses. 
 
Chairperson Atwell asked if there were promotional pieces on buses.  Transportation Director 
Schomisch responded yes, the PT2 ads were currently on the buses, which is a national campaign by 
APTA.  He suggested that they continue be used when space was not used by another ad. 
 
Chairperson Atwell stated that intended to vote in favor of the revised Advertising Policy; however, 
however, $35,000 was not peanuts, and yet it was additional revenue. 
 

Vice Chairperson Meek made a motion to approve the Revised Bus Advertising 
Policy, and was supported by Chairperson Atwell.  Chairperson Atwell and Vice 
Chairperson Meek supported the motion, and Secretary/Treasurer Treloar 
abstained from voting.  Motion carried. 

 
 
 
 
KMT Financial Policy – Retainage of System Fund Balance at 15% 
Chairperson Atwell reminded the Board that Transportation Director Schomisch had requested this 



 
 -5-

item be deferred from action from the Board; however, he had information to share with the Board 
on this matter. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reminded the Board that staff was working with the City’s 
Finance Director to formalize policies as a result of the fare increase that occurred earlier in the year. 
 He reported that the Finance Director requested the Board to hold on taking action until he had an 
opportunity to discuss the new policy with the City Manager with the hopes of having City 
Administration support before bringing before the City Commission for action. 
  
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that no more than 15% of the annual operating budget and 
no less than 12% would be requested to be retained.  He explained that the continued use of the 
System Fund Balance was not good and provided the current spend down scenario. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reminded the Board that federal dollars did not come in until 
halfway into the year and that the millage collection took place in July.  He informed the Board that 
$1.5 million was needed to take care of everyday expenses; otherwise, it would have to be borrowed 
and it would cost more money.  He stated that the City was currently had a 15% retainage, but was 
currently at 12%. 
 
Chairperson Atwell asked if it would be figured annually.  Transportation Director Schomisch 
responded yes, and that it would be part of budget adoption process. 
 
Chairperson Atwell indicated he liked the second paragraph of not expecting to deal with a different 
document.  Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the change would be effective with the 
CY2005 Budget adoption. 

 
Reinstatement of “Friends of Metro Transit” Committee 
Chairperson Atwell reminded the Board that the “Friends of Metro Transit” Committee consisted of 
non-Board activity, but it was established by the Board and emphasized it was not as part of the 
Board. 
 
Chairperson Atwell indicated that historically the Chairperson and Secretary/Treasurer of the Board 
served in the same capacity on the Committee and that there could only be up to three Board 
members on the Committee due to the Open Meeting Act. 
 
Chairperson Atwell asked if it was mandatory that three members serve on the Committee.  
Transportation Director Schomisch responded no. 
 
 
 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar asked about fundraisers.  Chairperson Atwell responded that vendors, 
employees, the ATU, and other individuals (i.e., TAB) were contacted for contributions. 
 



 
 -6-

Vice Chairperson Meek made a motion to appoint Chairperson Atwell and 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar to the “Friends of Metro Transit” Committee in their 
respective capacities, and was supported by Secretary/Treasurer Treloar.  Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
Millage Renewal Language on November 2 Ballot 
Chairperson Atwell read the resolution. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reminded the Board of past discussions regarding the request for 
an increase.  He highlighted the market research that was conducted earlier in the year that recorded 
an approval rating of 80% that indicated they would pay a higher millage for additional services. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that given the stand with federal government, no 
reauthorization, and the potential merging with Care-A-Van, that they were not in a position to 
suggest today or in the future an increase because there was not going to be an increase in service.  
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reminded the Board that the market research indicated the three 
top priorities to be improved amenities, fare payment options, and later evening service during the 
week.  He reported that the first two requests were being addressed with the addition of more bus 
shelters and the replacement of the fare boxes (could use credit card, debit card, etc) in 2005. 
  
Transportation Director Schomisch reiterated that the System was not in position to propose an 
expansion of service to justify a higher millage.  He indicated on record that he was against an 
increase and suggested only a renewal of the existing one-mil special transit tax levy. 
 
Chairperson Atwell responded he was willing to support an increase of the millage for additional 
service. 
 
Vice Chairperson Meek questioned the word replacement versus renewal on the ballot language.  
Chairperson Atwell responded it meant continuation.  Transportation Director Schomisch stated that 
staff worked with the City Attorney’s Office and based on their advice decided to use that word.  
Chairperson Atwell indicated that during promotion of the campaign, the word “renewal” would be 
used. 

 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar made a motion to accept and recommend the 
placement of the ballot question on the City’s November 2, General Election ballot, 
and was supported by Vice Chairperson Meek.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
 
Nomination Recommendations to the TAB 
Chairperson Atwell again welcomed Mr. Havice and Mr. Richardson to the meeting and reported to 
the Board that they were requested to attend to meeting to meet the other Board member(s), observe 



 
 -7-

the meeting, and be availabe to answer any questions. 
 
Vice Chairperson Meek asked Mr. Havice and Mr. Richardson what sparked their interest to serve 
on the Board. 
 
Mr. Richardson responded that former Board member Ms. Kempen piqued his interest and 
encouraged him to apply.  He conveyed he was a user of the System and felt he would be an asset on 
the Board. 
 
Mr. Havice also stated that former Board member Ms. Kempen had encouraged him to apply.  He 
stated that he was very interested in transit. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar asked Mr. Havice if he had any experience with budgets.  Mr. Havice 
responded no. 
 
Chairperson Atwell stated that the was pleased with both candidates and confidant that the City 
Commission would concur with the Board’s recommendation and felt that the candidates offered 
diversity to the Board. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that once approval by the City Commission was received, 
an orientation session would be scheduled  that would cover their role, responsibilities, and general 
information regarding the System. 
 

Chairperson Atwell made a motion to recommend to the City Commission the 
appointments of Mr. Havice and Mr. Richardson to the Board, and was supported 
by Ms. Forest.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Proposed Route Modifications in August 2004 
Chairperson Atwell requested future route modification information be provided to the Board  
sooner. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch acknowledged the tardiness in getting the information to the 
Board and apologized.  He indicated that the delays were due to meetings with the Route Committee 
in finalizing the recommendations. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the reinstitution of the Route Committee changed the 
process and was more time consuming as well as challenging.  He reported that management worked 
with the Route Committee and recommended changes for implementation on August 30 that were 
minor in nature. 
 
Chairperson Atwell asked if there were any recommendations that were rejected.  Transportation 
Director Schomisch responded no, and that they were noted as modified. 
 
Senior Operations Supervisor Givhan highlighted the routes that were modified as follows: 



 
 -8-

 
 Route #1 – Westnedge:  The temporary bus stop location at Crossroads Mall would 

become permanent, there would be no hold time at Crossroads Mall, and the route 
would not service Oak Street because it will be serviced by Route #12 – Bronson. 

 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar stated that she often saw people waiting for the bus by Meijers with 
their carts and questioned why the bus did not service the front door.  Transportation Director 
Schomisch responded that due to the growing congestion and conflict between buses and passengers 
and vehicle, the City of Portage created a min-transfer point off to the side of the store. 
 
Chairperson Atwell questioned if the removal of the hold at Crossroads Mall had been negotiated 
with Crossroads Mall.  Senior Operations Supervisor Givhan responded yes. 
 

 Route #3 – West Michigan:  The portion for WMU would have two less buses during 
peak-hours and the last trip outbound would bypass three apartments, but would 
service them inbound. 

 
Transportation Director Schomisch informed the Board that this was negotiated as part of the new 3- 
year WMU Service Agreement. 
 
Vice Chairperson Meek stated it was more crucial for students to get from campus to the apartment  
complexes versus going to Meijers.  Senior Operations Supervisor Givhan responded that students 
could stay on bus until it traveled inbound. 
 

 Route #6 – Parchment:  The detour will become permanent. 
 
 Route #11 – Stadium/KVCC:  The bus will leave two minutes earlier from KVCC, 

which will assist with on-time performance issues. 
 

 Route #12 – Bronson:  The bus will travel to Crosstown Apartments via Crosstown 
onto Howard to Merrill. 

 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that Route #12 continued to be more congested than the 
other routes and it continued to be a challenge in maintaining schedule. 
 

 Route #13 – South Burdick:  The bus will leave five minutes earlier from FIA and 
MRC. 

 
 

 Route #14 – West Main:  Due to time and connection issues with Route #23 – Drake, 
the first trip to Maple Hill Mall would be eliminated. 

 
 Route #15 – Paterson:  The bus will turn onto North Street from Park because the bus 

was having problems turning onto Ransom from Park, which will eliminate 



 
 -9-

congestion and accidents. 
 

 Route #16 – Lovell:  The bus would travel to Walnut during the outbound trip and 
the supplemental service would end at 11:30 a.m. in Fridays. 

 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated this change was agreed to due to the few number of 
classes on Friday afternoons and ridership was low. 
 

 Route #17 – Gold Valleys:  The last bus would depart from Sangren Hall earlier 
because WMU may close the back part of Valley III due to a decrease in enrollment 
of incoming students. 

 
 Route #18 – Brown Campus East:  The extra bus has been eliminated and will not 

significantly impact ridership and it will also travel up Oliver to Oakland to Howard 
to Rood Hall then back up Howard to Ice Arena to Library to Bernhard and back to 
East Campus (will maintain ½ hour schedule to connect to other buses). 

 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the biggest change would be a true connection 
between East Campus and Rood Hall and service to Stadium Drive Apartments. 
 

 Route #21 – Solon/Kendall:  The second bus would be eliminated on Fridays after 12 
p.m. 

 
 Route #22 – Lafayette:  The second bus would be eliminated on Fridays after 12 p.m. 

 
 Route #23 – Drake:  The bus would leave 10 minutes sooner at all stops, which 

would provide a better connectivity with Route #14. 
 

 Route #25 – WMU Parkview Campus:  Three buses would be provided during peak 
time and service to the Ice Arena and Howard Street Apartments would be provided 
by this route. 

 
Vice Chairperson Meek asked if the elimination of extra buses was approved by WMU.  
Transportation Director Schomisch responded yes, and that staff met with WMU officials and laid 
out changes. 
 
Senior Operations Supervisor Givhan stated that the restructuring of Route #18 was the biggest 
change. 
Chairperson Atwell stated that he did not want to surprise the riders and emphasized the importance 
of sharing information.  Transportation Director Schomisch responded that on Monday, August 30, 
staff would be participating at the annual Bronco Bash distributing 5,000 sets of schedules and that 
information would be available and distributed two weeks in advance of the implementation date of 
August 30. 
 



 
 -10-

Chairperson Atwell requested a map or overheads be provided during the presentation in the future. 
 

Chairperson Atwell made a motion to approve the route modifications scheduled 
for August 30, and was supported by Secretary/Treasurer Treloar.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
Metro Van Contract Update 
Chairperson Atwell reported that there was a very heated discussion at the City Commission 
Meeting on June 21. 
 
ADA Coordinator Congdon reported that he attempted to contact those that voiced concerns at the 
City Commission Meeting for feedback on the service.  He stated that Ms. Jackie Carlson was 
present at that meeting and was now employed as a scheduler for Pride Care.  He relayed that when 
he spoke with Jackie, she reported the passengers were happy and felt that the service received was 
better than when LIFE provided it. 
 
ADA Coordinator Congdon reported that he trained the dispatchers and drivers and worked with 
them on their database to ensure a smooth transition.  He reported that the vehicles that Pride Care 
owned and KMT owned were inspected and there were no major defects found on any of the 
vehicles. 
 
ADA Coordinator Congdon reported that the only “major” glitch was the phone system and 
explained the miscommunication.  He assured the Board that there were no stranded passengers 
during the time the system was down and that an alternate phone line was provided to passengers 
who experienced problems in scheduling rides. 
 
Chairperson Atwell commended Mr. Congdon for keeping the LAC members and himself informed 
during the transition period. 
 
ADA Coordinator Congdon commended Mr. Squires for his responsiveness and indicated that the 
scheduling was working out better for passengers because it was being done locally versus in Grand 
Rapids. 
 
 
 
 
2005 Budget Development 
Transportation Director Schomisch informed the Board that the City Administration decided to 
change the budget format to cover two years with the intent to have the current City Commission 
addresses the matter outside of the election process. 
 
Upcoming Millage Campaign Efforts 
Chairperson Atwell reminded the Board the efforts would be commencing in campaigning the 
renewal of the one-mill special transit tax levy. 



 
 -11-

 
TAB Committee Reports 
Finance Committee:  Chairperson Atwell reported that an initial meeting had taken place and that 
members of the Committee left meeting with more knowledge, and that the overall message of the 
issues was very complex.  He emphasized the importance of sharing information with the public to 
educate them. 
 
Marketing Committee:  There was nothing new to report. 
 
Nominating Committee:  Chairperson Atwell reminded the Board that there was still one vacancy 
and that a potential candidate had not submitted her application to date. 
 
Strategy for Outreach Efforts to Community 
Chairperson Atwell reminded the Board that this was an ongoing effort of the Board to ensure 
accurate information was shared with the public. 
 
Merging of Metro Transit/Care-A-Van Systems Update 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported that communications continued between City and 
County officials. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that staff provided the County with revised 3-year 
proposal.  He informed the Board that he met with the County Finance staff and sharing of 
information continued. 
 
Chairperson Atwell if there were any pressures being received.  Transportation Director Schomisch 
responded yes from the City Administration.  He stated that he felt the County might be a bit 
overwhelmed with a potential KVET Millage in November and other issues that required the 
County’s attention. 
 
Service Agreement Update 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported there was nothing new to report relating to the proposal 
submitted to Kalamazoo Public Schools. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reported that WMU was in receipt of the new 3-year Service 
Agreement, and that he had received verbal authorization to proceed with the service as outlined. 
DTC/ITC Project Update 
Transportation Director Schomisch informed the Board that work continued on the construction 
specifications and that a survey was conducted for a separate boiler building for the snowmelt 
system off-site. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch stated that the real problem was the lack of multi-year lease 
agreements with Indian Trails & Greyhound.  He stated that he had conversations with MDOT and 
had their support. 
 



 
 -12-

INFORMATION ITEMS 
Wheelchair Incident Report 
Members of the Board requested additional information be added to the report; i.e., bus and route 
number as well as the number of people that were left behind to ensure compliance with the ADA. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Treloar requested information on the report to reflect how many wheelchair 
passengers were affected and the length of time. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS ISSUES/CONCERNS 
August Board Meeting 
Chairperson Atwell indicated that the next Board Meeting would be September 3 and not August 27. 
 
Cool Cities Committee 
Vice Chairperson Meek informed the Board that the Cool Cities Committee was planning a tour 
along the Riverfront and suggested to the Committee to talk with KMT about the availability of 
using a bus for the tour. 
 
Transportation Director Schomisch reminded him of the FTA rule that does not allow the System to 
provide charter work. 
 
ADA LAC Meeting 
Chairperson Atwell expressed his concern about the wheelchair lifts/ramps not being fixed and the 
number of repeated complaints received at the meetings.  He acknowledged that he knew staff was 
aware of the ongoing problem and working on fixing them, but he wanted to ensure that the matter 
was being handled as a priority. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Mr. Richardson expressed his appreciation for providing him an opportunity to serve on the Board 
and that he was ready to move forward in the process. 
 
 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business presented before the Transit Authority Board of Directors at their 
formal meeting dated July 23, 2004, Chairperson Atwell motioned for adjournment and was 
supported by Secretary/Treasurer Treloar. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:35 a.m. 

 
 

NOTE:  Formal Transit Authority Board approval of these minutes will be 
recorded at the next scheduled meeting. 



 
 -13-

 
___________________________________ 

Heather L. Stiver, Recording Secretary 
 

Date: 3 September 2004 


